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Response to Bidder Inquiries 

1. We would like to request clarification on item 4 of Section II.D of your RFP for an evaluation of 
the Colorado Department of Revenue’s Use of Retail and Medical Marijuana Inventory Tracking 
Data. Could you expand upon the criteria that will be used to determine that an organization is 
independent? 

Although this engagement is being performed as an evaluation and not a performance audit, the OSA 
consults and uses the independence framework outlined in Government Auditing Standards as a best 
practice to help ensure that the selected firm’s opinions, findings, conclusions, judgments, and 
recommendations will be objective and impartial and viewed as such by the report’s end users. 
Prospective bidders should consult paragraphs 3.02 through 3.59 of Government Auditing Standards 
for guidance. These standards can be accessed online (https://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf). 

To properly assess the potential for self-interest or self-review threats, Section II(D)(7) of the RFP 
specifically requires bidders to describe any work performed for the State of Colorado within the 
past 2 years, and any work planned for the State of Colorado, and explain why this work would not 
impair the organization’s independence in performing this evaluation of the Colorado Department 
of Revenue. 

The OSA has determined that the following two situations represent significant threats to 
independence for this engagement that cannot be sufficiently mitigated and, therefore, firms in either 
of these situations should not bid on this engagement: 

• The firm has a current contract to provide products or services to the Colorado Department 
of Revenue or has submitted a proposal in response to an open solicitation to provide products 
or services to the Colorado Department of Revenue. 

• The firm, if selected to perform this engagement, would be in a position of evaluating prior 
work performed for the Colorado Department of Revenue. 

https://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf
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2. Does the Department have a documented marijuana inventory tracking workflow? 

The Department and it’s vendor for Metrc® have documentation related to system details, functions, 
data fields, workflows, etc. However, this information is not publicly available and, therefore, is not 
available to bidders. The Department and its vendor for Metrc® will provide this information to the 
engaged firm once the project commences. For purposes of preparing proposals, we recommend that 
bidders consult the general information and resources available on the Metrc® website 
(www.metrc.com), including the following Snapshot document (https://bit.ly/2DvsNX4). 

3. The RFP indicates that a phase-out period for vertical integration began in July 2018. What is the 
status of this phase-out? 

The full details of this policy change are contained in House Bill 18-1381 
(http://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb18-1381). Basically, between July 1, 2018 and June 30, 2019, 
medical marijuana centers and optional premises cultivation facilities can purchase and sell 50% of 
their inventory as a wholesale transaction, and medical marijuana trim is not included in the 
calculation of the percentage. Then, on or after July 1, 2019, an optional premises cultivation facility 
may sell any amount of the medical marijuana it cultivates to any medical marijuana center. 
Similarly, a medical marijuana center may source its medical marijuana from any optional premises 
cultivation facility without restriction. 

The move away from vertical integration changes the production management model on the medical 
marijuana side. The Department reports that the data inputs won’t change; however, there will be 
new parameters for what the Department looks for in the data in terms of identifying potential 
noncompliance. The Department will no longer be focused on the 70/30 balance in the medical 
marijuana market (i.e., ensuring that medical marijuana centers sold 70 percent of what their 
affiliated cultivation centers grew and bought no more than 30 percent of what they sold from a non-
affiliated medical marijuana center). This will be an area of further inquiry that the engaged firm 
will need to have with the Department once the project commences. 

4. To what extent would this engagement preclude us from performing future work for Colorado 
Department of Revenue or any other work for the State of Colorado that may relate to the 
implementation of recommendations resulting from this engagement? 

Completion of this engagement for the OSA would not necessarily preclude the firm from performing 
future work for the Colorado Department of Revenue or other Colorado state agencies. However, 
such a determination would ultimately be the responsibility of the procuring agency, not the OSA, 
given the specific parameters and scope of work for any such future projects. 

The development of future business with the Colorado Department of Revenue or the State of 
Colorado related to the implementation of recommendations resulting from this engagement, if any, 
should not be the primary motivation for bidding on this project. Even the perception that the engaged 
firm’s opinions, findings, conclusions, judgments, and recommendations could be motivated by a 
desire to secure future work could undermine the objectivity and impartiality of the work and how 
the final evaluation report it is viewed by the report’s end users. 

http://www.metrc.com)/
https://bit.ly/2DvsNX4
http://leg.colorado.gov/bills/hb18-1381
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5. Related to the State Auditor Contract Section 11, Conflict of Interest, references “…the express 

written approval of the State.” Can you clarify who’s approval qualifies as the State’s approval (i.e., 
is it the State Auditor, another Agency representative, etc.)? 

With respect to §11 of the Contract, Conflicts of Interest, the State Auditor or his or her designee is 
the State’s approving authority and representative for purposes of this contract. 

6. Will the contractor physically evaluate business and occupational licensees? If so, how many 
locations will be sampled? 

There could be some limited onsite work early on at one or two Denver-area licensees to do a “walk 
through” and help the engagement team gain an understanding of the inventory data workflow and 
assess data entry risk areas. We expect that the engagement team will also work closely with 
Department staff and the Department’s vendor for Metrc® to gain this understanding through other 
available user training materials and resources, thereby further limiting the need for onsite work at 
any licensee locations. 

Just as a point of clarification, Objective 1 in the RFP calls for the selected firm to evaluate the design 
of controls intended to mitigate inadvertent or deliberate data entry errors and identify opportunities 
for strengthening. Bidders should expect the controls to be both preventive (e.g., edit checks and 
other Metrc® application controls) and detective (e.g., exception reporting and reconciliation 
processes) in nature. We are not expecting the selected firm to perform tests of the operating 
effectiveness of such internal controls. Additionally, the scope of work for this engagement does not 
include directly validating the underlying marijuana inventory data, nor does it involve conducting 
a review of Metrc®’s IT general controls or licensee compliance. 

7. When you refer to a performance evaluation [on page 11 of the RFP], what standards does OSA 
expect the evaluation should meet (e.g. GAO Yellow Book)? 

There are no specific professional standards that get cited for performance evaluations. However, 
the OSA recommends consulting Government Auditing Standards as best practice guidance with 
respect to planning, fieldwork, and reporting activities on its performance evaluations. 

Nothing in the RFP precludes bidders from conducting this engagement as a performance audit in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards if they choose. 

8. Will the closing presentation be a closed audience or broadcast to the public? 

The Legislative Audit Committee hearing is an open public hearing that will also be broadcast live 
on the Internet. 

9. Will the contract monitor be responsible for scheduling meetings with the department and ensuring 
the necessary people attend the meetings? 

The OSA’s contract monitor will assist the engaged firm with scheduling and ensuring attendance by 
appropriate Department of Revenue personnel for the entrance conference, findings clearing, and 
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exit conference meetings only. The engaged firm will be responsible for scheduling all other meetings 
with appropriate Department of Revenue personnel and others needed to complete the evaluation 
work. 

The OSA’s Contract Monitor and the engaged firm will discuss a communications plan/approach for 
the evaluation with the Department once the contract has been executed. As the OSA’s contractor, 
the engaged firm will be expected to work directly with the Department to obtain information and 
documentation needed to fulfill the evaluation’s objectives. The OSA will not serve as a conduit for 
information or access to the Department. However, the engaged firm should copy the OSA’s Contract 
Monitor on its communications with the Department during the course of the evaluation. 

10. Can this work be performed by resources outside of Colorado including our India resources? 

The RFP does not require that the selected firm or the engagement team be located in Colorado. We 
expect that some of the work may be performed remotely, including through telephone, email, and 
other remote solutions (e.g., Skype, Google Hangouts), between the engaged firm and the 
Department. That said, the engaged firm will also need to spend time on site as needed to ensure it 
gains a full understanding of the Department’s processes, review hard copy records (if applicable), 
access data systems, and/or meet with agency staff. Also, as indicated in the RFP, the engaged firm 
will be expected to conduct the entrance conference, findings meeting, exit conference, and 
Legislative Audit Committee hearing in person. 

It would be helpful if, when describing the principal staff (i.e., principals, managers, and supervisors/in-
charges) who will work on the evaluation, including any specialists or subcontractors to be used, that 
bidders’ proposals also outline any non-local resources, their benefits to the engagement, and the firm’s 
approach to accomplishing work remotely. 

11. What other systems are involved in the inventory process outside of Metrc©? 

The focus of this evaluation is the marijuana inventory tracking data in Metrc®, which is the primary 
inventory system of record for Colorado’s commercial marijuana industry. 

The Department’s business licensing system, MLO, which is described in the RFP, pushes some 
validation information into Metrc® so that only licensed marijuana businesses can have an active 
Metrc® account. Additionally, marijuana businesses may use secondary inventory tracking or point-
of-sale systems that interact with Metrc® through an application program interface (API). In 
accordance with state rules, licensees using such separate systems must ensure that all relevant 
inventory tracking data is accurately transferred to and from Metrc® for the purposes of 
reconciliations with any secondary systems. 

12. Does the software provider METRC have a separate audit on the internal controls/integrity of the 
software? If yes, is the latest report available? 

According to the Department, some security testing of Metrc® has been performed. However, the 
OSA’s understanding is there have not been Service Organization Control 1 (SOC 1) or Service 
Organization Control 2 (SOC 2) audits performed related to Metrc® as it is used in Colorado. This 
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will be an area of further inquiry that the engaged firm will need to have with the Department and 
it’s vendor for Metrc® once the project commences. 

13. Are reports run with exceptions to the workflow or overrides? 

The Department reports that Metrc® has some general reports that users (i.e., licensees) can pull, 
such as a report of historical adjustments to inventory. The Department also creates reports/queries 
of the data that indicate potential noncompliance or other high-risk behavior. The Department and 
its vendor for Metrc® will provide this information to the engaged firm once the project commences. 

14. Does the OSA anticipate that fieldwork will consist of being on site at one or multiple locations to 
validate data, system process flow from point of entry or other means? If so how many locations are 
anticipated? 

See response to Question #6. 

15. Do proposers have access to the current workflow? 

See response to Question #2. 

16. Based on the dates within the RFP it appears OSA is looking for fieldwork to be accomplished in 
seven (7) weeks. How was this timeframe determined? Is this negotiable? 

The schedule for the evaluation, including the interim project deadlines and deliverables, is driven 
by the OSA’s need to have this engagement completed and a written report finalized for a Legislative 
Audit Committee hearing on September 9 or 10, 2019. This is not negotiable. 

17. What is the anticipated budget for the scope of work? 

The OSA has not established a budget for this project; we are relying on the proposals from bidders 
to help us define this parameter based on the scope of work. We expect bidders to propose a work 
plan that will ensure a quality work product that satisfies the project’s objectives in an efficient and 
cost-effective manner. 

18. As you will not be posting answers to questions until Feb 13, and the proposals are due by Feb 20, 
this is not allowing us much time to digest the answers and adjust our proposals. Would you 
consider extending the proposal due date until Feb 27? 

In order to get the project started as soon as possible, the OSA must stay with the schedule as outlined 
in the RFP. 


